Tisman’s Common, Rudgwick
General Description

Tisman’s Common today is a well-defined area in a triangle of roads on the western side of the parish of Rudgwick. This was not always so, as it was originally an area of wooded ‘mens’, held in common in the manor of Drungewick, in Rudgwick and the parish of Wisborough Green (now Loxwood). Loxwood’s share of the mens is still partly woodland, but not so in Rudgwick. A comparable ancient woodland called The Mens still exists between Wisborough and Kirdford/Fittleworth, included in the South Downs National Park.
Tisman’s Common lies in a relatively flat, and not particularly high area, 25-30m above sea level, to the north west of the River Arun. On its fringes, both Tisman’s, to the north west, and Weyhurst (interestingly once called Waste Farm) and Hornshill Farms to the north lie on slightly elevated sites. The land only begins to fall to the river floodplain east of Exfold and Rolls Farms. 
The area is generally poorly drained clay with localised flood risk in both Barnsfold Lane to the west, and Hornshill Lane, east of the crossroads in the northern apex of the triangle, in both cases from very minor watercourses in low-lying gardens. Two small streams drain the whole area, and both cross the Loxwood Road in small gills. The western one is liable to flood across the road at times of sudden or prolonged downpour as it has a very inadequate culvert. 

There is little woodland in this area today, in contrast to much of the rest of the parish, including the woodland to the north. This is explained by a history of enclosure of the mens and commons. However, there is a significant number of enclosure hedging, and most gardens are attractively hedged with native species. There are fewer large trees too in this relatively recent landscape, giving a more open aspect than is usual in Rudgwick.
The ‘Tisman’s triangle’ is made up of 1.) Loxwood Road, the main through road from north east to south west, 2.) Pig Lane roughly north-south in orientation leading to Hornshill Lane, and 3.) the unnamed north west to south east lane from Exfold junction to the Crossways that has many of the Common’s houses along its short length, including several historic properties. The residents of these houses in particular would say they live ‘on the Common’. Houses close to Tisman’s Crossways at the northeastern apex of the triangle are particularly significant in the history of settlement here. In addition there are significant clusters of houses along private roads: Arundene Lane to the south and Barnsfold Lane to the west. Overall, Tisman’s is a very loose-knit settlement, with no one centre or focus.
Some House History

The oldest houses

Historically, settlement was dispersed, as it was throughout the parish. There are several very old houses on the Common. Among these is Swains Cottage, which is a very early open hall house, for a long time called Hulbanks, built as a hall house on the northern edge of the common. Dendro-chronological dating gives 1378 for its construction, and 1568 for re-flooring at a raised level. A Richard Sweyn occupied a cottage here in 1353, and some re-set timber was dated 1349 and 1353. Now brick clad, with the upper rooms in dormers, it was a simple timber-framed house of four bays with the central pair a full-height hall. This hall was only partly floored up until the late 17th century when a brick chimney was also inserted. There is evidence of another earlier smoke bay from about 1600. 
Next to it is Little Swains (Common Farm), another fine hall house from about 1675. The farmland associated with this property was called Brooklands (it is by the brook) and was enclosed in the 14th century, the earliest enclosure of Tisman’s Common for which we have records. At about this time a Bishop of Chichester, as Lord of the Manor of Drungewick had also created Hale Farm from the mens. This process was known in medieval England as assarting, and was going on all over Rudgwick. The existence of field names in the Tisman’s triangle containing ‘broom’ and ‘moor’ suggest that the common was already losing timber cover to heath. Plants like broom had economic value for animal bedding. Prior to the Black Death, population had been rising. Names like ‘denn’ (two fields on Tisman’s Farm), ‘reed’ (another Tisman’s field), ‘ridden’ (Reddens Field/The Riddens cottages) and ‘fold’ (Exfold, Kingsfold, Barnsfold) refer to this clearance. Others refer to new fields such as Old Oatersh in Exfold.
Place name and personal name evidence suggests that ‘Bernefold’ existed in 1279, Exfold in 1327, ‘Hornesele’ in 1327, Weyhurst in 1332, ‘Broke’ (Brook Cottage, Loxwood Road) in 1353, ‘Swayn’ in 1400. ‘Tishmorth Comon’ appears in 1651.
 There are a number of smoke bay houses indicative of 16th century clearance and enclosure around the edge of the last of the commons to remain. By this time the population was at last rising again and land was in demand. The larger farmers no longer wished to have labourers living in, so tiny cottages, some just one chamber above a room downstairs also appeared, having little or no land. Some enlarged ones housed two families by the 19th century. For example, further along Hornshill Lane is Bucks Cottage, c1550, with a smoke bay. Hornshill Farmhouse, c1700 is later. This group, with the two above, and nearby Perry Lodge and Glovers (both smoke bay), may be thought of as the early Tisman’s hamlet, together with the early brick-built Greenhurst, c1775, and the larger Tisman’s Farm, further north. Glovers, originally Axfold Wood, then Knight’s Piece, was another, built in 1633 on a quarter acre taken from the common. Doubtless other cottages have disappeared.
Also on the Common are Gravel Pits (originally Moorland Cottages, early 19th century), now the only house isolated inside the triangle, and Old House (two smoke bay dwellings next to the Mucky Duck Inn). Old House itself was once the ‘house at the sign of the Pig’, and it was James Fuller, the owner of this beer house who purchased an adjoining plot on which he built his new pub (original name The Cricketers) following the 1851 Act of Inclosure, completed in 1854 (see below).

 A group to the west, on Barnsfold Lane, is made up of Barnsfold Cottage, c1550, Barnsfold, 1680-1700, and Hedgerow Cottage, also c1550 though much altered. Beyond them on the Loxwood boundary is the little cottage of Lower Barnsfold. 
On the southern edge of the Common there are a number of isolated farms and cottages, which occupy the higher ground near to, and sometimes overlooking, the Arun valley, from which the original medieval penetration of settlement came. The most significant of these are Exfold, dating from about c1425, an open hall house, Exfold Wood, c1725, Little Exfold (Georgian?) and Motts c1625 (a smoke bay). Amongst these properties there is the little St John’s Church. Further south are Rudgwick Grange (replacing Kingsfold), Rolls, Hale (15th century) and Newhouse Farms (18th century), but the latter two are some way from the Common.
Whilst nearly all these houses are much changed, they indicate the range of settlement around the edge of the common over 300 years. Their survival, as often stated of Rudgwick, is due to the relative poverty of the owners of smallholdings who never had the money to rebuild. Building of these houses would have been by or with the agreement of the Lord of the Manor of Drungewick, some on very long leases. The road layout dates from early enclosures prior to 1851, but the main enclosure of ‘Exfold Wood Common’ (as the Act calls it) in that year by Act of Parliament completed the enclosure into ‘allotments’. Exfold Wood Common was a term in local use in the early census returns (e.g. 1851). It was then the name of Drungewick manor’s common, and a free allotment after 1851 was made to those farms that were also in this manor, namely Exfold, Kingsfold, Redhouse and Weyhurst. 
On a map of 1777, there is reference to ‘Christmas Common’ between the Surrey border and ‘Exsale’ (Exfold), suggesting the surveyor was relying too much on oral evidence in the local dialect, possibly at the sign of the Pig! 
By 1795 the more detailed Gardener & Yeakell map of Sussex shows a clear distinction between the old farms around the edge of the Common, and an area bounded by Barnsfold, Tisman’s, Greenhurst, Swains, Bucks, Glovers and Exfold which comprised the Common. Even then, a central portion, opposite Motts around Moorland Cottages, now Gravel Pits (not then built) was enclosed to give a ‘doughnut effect’. The road along the north east of the Common was not shown, but the remainder were in place, though alignments have changed. 
Enclosures

By the time of the survey for the Rudgwick Tithe Map in 1840, the western part of the common is shown as enclosed. This occurred in 1813, when the South Stoke manorial court baron granted 45 acres of Tisman’s Common to William Mann of Tisman’s for a yearly rent of 2s 8d. Seven new arable fields were made between Tisman’s Farm stretching across Barnsfold Lane which had been created  to the cottages along it. It was worth the expense of hedging, ditching, and road making to increase the size of his holding at a time of higher prices during and after the NapoleonicWars. This area today is neat, open, and minus the tall hedgerow trees and shaws elsewhere in Rudgwick. John Laker Napper, Esq acquired Tisman’s Farm in 1834.
 The Tithe Map shows the route from Rudgwick to Alfold and into Surrey passing over the northeastern common from Exfold to Swains (roughly the line of the modern lane) turning across the Tisman’s enclosures to join a green lane to Hook Street in Alfold. The ‘triangle’ is therefore at least as old as 1840. However, there were barely enough houses then to warrant a named settlement, as opposed to the name of an area that had been a larger common in living memory. A substantial stretch of common and roadside waste remained, in a V shape with the base of the V at Exfold, one narrow finger along the road to Loxwood as far as the second stream, and a wider irregular area passing Glovers towards Little Swains.
The 1851 ‘Inclosure’ of Drungewick manor’s Exfold Wood Common (and the small Greenhurst Common) created 34 ‘allotments’, 30 acres in total, some sold, some ‘freely allotted’, a process completed by 1854. Land that was sold was that which had potential for building on, such as corner or roadside plots. All have been described in detail and carefully mapped by Alan Siney in a monograph, Who took the Common from Tismans?, RPS, 1995. How does this affect the more recent settlement of Tisman’s Common? 
Linear plots either side of Motts along the south east side of Loxwood Road, and also beyond the pub, were awarded to William Wooberry, owner of Kingsfold Farm (now Rudgwick Grange), with one allotment going to the smithy (now Farriers). The Mucky Duck Inn, which, on its prominent corner site next to the Pig Inn was erected by the owner of the Pig, as a replacement, was first referred to as ‘The Cricketers’ in Parish Vestry minutes of 1855, and also in Kelly’s Directory of that year with the landlord Edward Longhurst (or Songhurst as later spelt), whose family were landlords until the 1890s. Within a short time the Parish was also agreeing with Edwin Napper for him to contribute stone which they would lay on ‘Tismans Road’ (Pig Lane) as the private road was now being used more by the public. Its alignment to Tisman’s Crossways as it is now was created by these works.
Edwin Napper (son of John, above) at Tisman’s, acquired plots between the smithy and the pub (never built on), a triangle of land opposite Swains at Tisman’s Crossways, where four modern tied cottages called Crossways Cottages are built, and a plot near Greenhurst. His farm took on the appearance of a park (and for many years marked as such on maps) when owned as part of the Pallinghurst Estate first by Erwin Schumacher, then Ernest MacAndrew, finally sold in 1959. In the 1930s, 1950s and 60s it was a wonderful location for the Chiddingfold and Leconfield Hunt annual Point-to Point races - though it brought gridlock to the narrow lanes.
There had for many years been a short cut across the corner behind the Pig Inn, but when in 1851 a tiny plot next to Loxwood Road was sold to Edward Ireland who farmed Exfold, it effectively blocked this old route. Corner Cottage, which once stood close to this corner, is long gone, but the line of the western end of the cut-through can still be seen in the boundary alignment between Westland and Willow Cottage on Pig Lane. Also sold to Edward Ireland were a small plot by the original Exfold entrance, the adjacent verge opposite The Riddens, land curving around Moorland Cottages next to the oldest enclosure in the centre of the triangle, together with the old common pond there, and a tiny plot by Motts. Whilst none of these has been built on, another plot by Tisman’s Crossways was where Evergreens was erected in the 1930s.  
At the eastern apex of the road triangle, Denzil Onslow, Lord of the Manor of Drungewick (whose land it was being enclosed), obtained by way of compensation the customary one-sixteenth of the land for the loss of his common, and the mineral rights, to a triangular field, which no longer exists as a separate field. Does this throw light on the modern name for Moorland Cottages, ‘Gravel Pits’?
On the Exfold side of Loxwood Road is a cottage called Exfold Wood, where the garden was extended with a roadside allotment. Later, this house became the hamlet’s shop, in one room of the house, with the cellar underneath used for storage. In 1913, the then owner, Mr Tuff, gave a corner of his property to the church for the construction of St John’s mission church, still very much in regular use, but tucked out of sight behind a bungalow. For the centenary of the church, it became clear that no one really knows how this land came to be the site, as there are no documents other than one from the bishop allowing the celebration of Holy Communion.
Remaining near this junction, the plot adjacent to Little Exfold, on the opposite side, sited just down the lane across the common, was acquired and added to its front and side garden by William Gould of Weyhurst, as was another plot beyond Glovers where Greenways and Urchins are now. A long defunct track, now a footpath, to Weyhurst went across the common here. Weyhurst, Little Exfold, and these newly acquired plots were immediately sold on (subject to legal proceedings, which confirmed ownership in 1854) to the Governors of the Free Grammar School of St Mary Olave in Southwark, who bought property for its income. When Weyhurst was added to the Lynwick Estate, Little Exfold and the enclosures went with it, under the 1854 leasehold agreement. 
Gould also owned a field called Ten Acres, behind Little Exfold, and Redhouse Field opposite Redhouse Farm. A lane next to Glendevon accessed the first of these. Glendevon was erected on the site of a building belonging to Little Exfold. The roadside verge was added to Redhouse Field, as it had been on other nearby farms.
All the Weyhurst land, which had become part of the large Lynwick Estate created by John Aungier, was sold in lots on his death in 1922. Subsequently, Weyhurst Villas, and recently Sunnyview, were built on land taken from Ten Acres. However, of greater impact to Rudgwick was the building of a long row of detached houses and bungalows on Redhouse Field from near Woodfalls all the way to The Fox Inn, effectively ribbon development linking Tisman’s Common to Bucks Green, before such development was outlawed in the 1940s.
In between the two, a narrow strip of road verge was incorporated into Reddens Field, part of Kingsfold Farm. A row of six semi-detached houses called The Riddens was also built in this field after 1898 when bought by Fred Street, and a modern house Apple Acre has been tucked in behind. The large house Woodfalls was built on land similarly conveyed in 1900 and soon occupied by Capt GF Whitehead  (burnt down 1911, replaced, and recently replaced by apartments and two other houses). 
Opposite was land sold to Exfold (above), but further towards Bucks Green the verge almost to the bridge in the gill went to Mary Elliot, wife of Thomas, at Redhouse Farm. No development has taken place on this side of the road in contrast to the ribbon development on the other side.
Returning now to Tisman’s Crossways, the two ancient properties called Swains and Swains Cottage, which were in the ownership of the Elliotts at Hornshill Farm, and leased from the Dean and Chapter of Chichester, joined a long list of properties whose frontages were taken from the common in 1854. From here a tapering plot along Hornshill Lane towards Owlbecks (built 1816 and called Lipscombe House after its owners) also went to the Elliotts. The name ‘Owlbecks’ may be an attempt to revive in modern form the old name for Swains Cottage which was ‘Hulbecks’. Another Elliott acquisition was the land where Springside is now (see below). As was the case with Weyhurst earlier, Hornshill Farm was incorporated into the Lynwick Estate in 1919 and then in 1922 was sold in lots. The Springside plot and Glovers became a smallholding, later to be divided again.
Glovers (old name confusingly Axfold Wood, indicating its being part of Exfoldwood Common) was in the possession of the Knight family on a 999 year lease, but much of the frontage was awarded to William Wooberry of Kingsfold (see above), not to Knight, the person who could have made best use of it. What Knight did receive included the common well or spring. He had to maintain both the well and the path to it. His descendents eventually purchased land by the road in 1901, and the land which would become Springside in 1902. Later, under Lynwick estate management the well was moved to the roadside, its site now marked by an oak post.
The Tisman’s Crossways corner of the road triangle is a complex little area. Today, as well as Evergreens, referred to above, there are the Perry Lodge cottages (formerly Saxes, originally 17th century, but rebuilt as two attached cottages c1900) and the two more recent houses, Saxes Plat (replacing a bungalow on the site) and Chalmington (named for the birth place of the first owner). Three allotments here went to John King of Loxwood House who was the freeholder. He owned Hale Farm, of which these three plots were for some reason part. A tiny plot in what is now the front garden of Perry Lodge went to Denzil Onslow. Land across the road was sold to James Grinstead, but never built on. He also gained land along Hornshill lane, which included 17th century Bucks Cottage. Yew Tree Cottage (and another now demolished) was built on this land, but is not as old as it looks because of the use of reclaimed materials when it was rebuilt after it was sold from the Lynwick estate. Grinstead was the tollhouse keeper at Roman Gate at the time, and also a surveyor employing over 30 men. Was he rewarded for work done as surveyor to the 1851 enclosure? Neither Siney nor Chatwin mention this but the evidence for his occupation is in the censuses.
Exfoldwood Lane (which is what it should be called!)
Along the lane between Exfold and Glovers nine detached and semi-detached cottages have been built over the intervening years. These are all on land that was allotted to William Wooberry of Kingsfold (now Rudgwick Grange). The first were three attached cottages (now two, Lilac and Well Cottages) built by the first person to gentrify Kingsfold, John Wiley, before 1870 when he sold his farm. The cottages were on the sale map. The next owner renamed Kingsfold Arun Bank, and the cottages Clyde Cottages (building a 4th one which still bears the name). As for the others including Highview Villas, sold in 1898 by Christopher Walker of Arun Bank. and by 1900 the houses were up and for sale. The builders were a gang of German speaking men from various countries, led by one Karl Luckner working for Mrs Humphrey of Broomhall, Baynards. The probability is they next built Woodfalls. The Lucknors built Fairlawn, larger than the rest, and called it Lucknorsruhe. It was later Althorndean. Taken together with their neighbours from Crossways to Exfold these constitute the main core of the settlement today but the focus is ill defined in these narrow lanes, with even the telephone box and post box hidden in the hedge, and the church completely out of sight. There was once a shop but there was never a post office as there was in other settlements, viz., Rudgwick, Bucks Green, and The Haven. Perhaps this is part of the idiosyncratic charm of Tisman’s Common.
Lynwick Estate

Reference to the Lynwick Estate was made above. This estate dominated land ownership in Rudgwick at the beginning of the 20th century. It grew westwards to include a tract of land west of the A281 extending to Tisman’s Common. John Aungier’s estate included Glovers and all the fields north west of it to the Crossways and beyond, including the frontages of Swains Cottage, Little Swains and Wyken as far as the brook, but not the houses themselves, and all the land and property along Hornshill Lane including Hornshill and Weyhurst Farms, with the exception of Owlbecks. The estate also reached to the edge of Greenhurst and Tisman’s. East of Glovers it reached the back of properties like Highview Villas, and reached the junction by including Little Exfold, but not The Riddens or Woodfalls. Loxwood Road properties towards Bucks Green were also built on land sold from the estate. Most of Aungier’s acquisitions were made in the 1890s. He acquired the lease on Bucks Cottage in 1879, his first in Tisman’s Common. Alan Siney in his study of Aungier’s estate said inn 1895 he inherited Hornshill from Edwin Napper of Tisman’s. However, in the author’s deeds for a filed once part of Hornshill, Aungier becomes the owner when Hornshill was sold by the Pallinghurst estate in 1919. In 1898 Aungier bought Weyhurst, which he may already have held leasehold. Glovers and 4 acres were purchased 1900-02, Yew (Tree) Cottage went his way in 1907, and finally Bucks Cottage was bought outright in 1911.
 After his death in 1922 the whole estate was sold in lots by King & Chasemore acting for his brother Thomas. The catalogue of sale gives a glimpse of past conditions on the Common. Bucks Cottage had its water supply by pipe from Weyhurst Copse, the two Swains Cottages despite being there so many centuries had no well and had to have right of way to fetch and carry water from the brook. In the 1920s too, much of the farmland to the east of the Common was arable. The 7 acre Weyhurst Copse (the only woodland in Tisman’s Common) was sold with ‘thriving oak woodland and underwoods’ as ‘an excellent site for a country house’ – which it now is, built 1926, and environmentally well managed by recent owners. 
Common Field in an apex of the Crossways opposite Perry Lodge was sold for a house, which has never been built, on a double frontage to the ‘hard’, i.e. stone, roads. Bucks Cottage was sold as a ‘very picturesque old fashioned country cottage’ with productive garden and fruit trees. Glovers was similarly described, but had orchard, grass, pond, stables, piggery, cowshed, and a ‘motor shed’. Little Exfold was a ‘very superior Georgian farmhouse and desirable [10 acre] smallholding’. Redhouse Field, opposite The Redhouse, was sold in two lots as ‘a delightful site for a good class small country house’, but no such house was built, instead giving Tisman’s Common a continuous linear row of smaller houses joining the Common settlement to Bucks Green.
Today

Just tiny fragments of the Common remains: a triangular verge by Bucks Cottage, and the verges near Hale. The enclosure law made strict rules for hedge and fence maintenance, in contrast to the usual Wealden haphazard fieldscape of small fields and wide wooded shaws. The effect of enclosure of roadside verges and of larger allotments was to create narrow lanes, which are now difficult for motorists. Pedestrians on Loxwood Road, where there are blind junctions, and no pavement between Exfold and the Mucky Duck, are at risk. Speed limits, applied as a result of pressure from Rudgwick Parish Council, have helped, but the increasing use of this road by through traffic to and from Loxwood  is a growing menace. By contrast the other roads are havens of peace and quiet, much valued by the residents. Rat running on Hornshill Lane, and parked cars by an overgrown pavement on the road from Exfold to Tisman’s Crossways are minor irritants.
As Alan Siney has observed, the development of Tisman’s Common was in keeping with its times, and remind us of our responsibility for changes we allow nowadays which may have unforeseen effects in the future. Had the pre-enclosure verges remained, there would have been plenty of room for a pavement and road widening, with frontages set back from the road giving better visibility. Compare this with the road beyond Brook Cottage passing Hale on the way to Loxwood where there are still wide verges filled with wild flowers between fields. 
Arundene Lane Horticulture
Arundene Lane was developed away from the Common and has grown from the 19th century development of  horticulture by Christopher Walker at what was then Arun Bank. Walker sold off plots to incomers at Sunnyside, Arundene Orchard and at Snowdrift/Strawberry Gardens opposite the pub where the old windpump still stands. A fruit farm and school was later set up by the owner of Rudgwick Grange, Admiral Goodridge. Barnsfold Nurseries evolved from the eventual demise of these businesses. Sunnyside glasshouses are now used by this thriving business. Newbridge Nurseries at Broadbridge Heath are their retail outlet. The business with its ancillary glasshouses, yards and storage areas together with associated houses have been added to by the erection of several residential properties including Arun Cottage (by Goodridge) and recently Arundene Orchard. The area in proximity to the Mucky Duck is a secondary cluster in the loose-knit settlement of Tisman’s Common.
The development of nurseries in the Arundene area has had the potential to spoil the environment but Barnsfold in particular is well-screened and uses hedging to good effect. This whole area has been developed in a piecemeal way on large plots set back from the road, so needs careful planning to avoid becoming overdeveloped and out of character, especially towards the end of the built up part of Arundene Lane. In contrast to modern chalet bungalows at Barnsfold Nursery, the nearby property called Farriers is especially distinctive as it retains the outbuildings of the former smithy.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the primary cluster of houses is linear, from Woodfalls and Exfold on Loxwood Road to Tisman’s Crossways at Hornshill Lane, taking in most of the historic buildings and infilling of later ones. This is perhaps the most tranquil area in Rudgwick, given the considerable number of houses along its lanes. It includes the tiny church but has had no shop for many years. Building materials are mainly brick with tile hanging. Only one or two ‘cameo’ appearances of timber-framing occur, most obviously at Barnsfold Farm, with other older houses timber-framing hidden under brick and hung tiles, including the oldest, Swains Cottage. Only two houses (Swains Cottage and Little Swains) have Horsham stone roofs, but not far away there are other examples at Hale Farm and The Redhouse. Roofs are nearly all in traditional clay tiles. Gravel Pits is unusual, built partly in stone.
One unusual feature is that many houses have tile hanging right to the ground. It may be found on a row of post-enclosure properties along the road from Exfold to the Crossways (e.g. 1-4 Highview Cottages, Lilac Cottage and Well Cottage, all semi-detached) and on Arun Cottage in Arundene Lane. 
 There are a few properties built in a variety of periods and styles during the 20th century. Some are on Pig Lane next to Old House (Meadow View, Willow Cottage, and Westland), Some are near the Crossways, such as 3-4 Crossways Cottages and another pair on Barnsfold Lane, which are also open to the road and out of keeping with the adjacent older houses. These were tied houses for Tismans’ Farm. Fortunately there are not too many overall to alter the character of this unique ‘common’. In keeping with its 19th century history of housing mainly agricultural labourers two families to a cottage, there are a number of semi-detached houses, including some already mentioned and 1-7 The Riddens (there is no number 3, the reason too complicated to explain here!) on Loxwood Road.
Tisman’s Common is a mix of hedged and ditched poorly drained grassland fields and houses of widely differing ages and styles set in small clusters in a loose-knit pattern in a network of narrow lanes carrying relatively little traffic, and a fascinating history of enclosure and allotments of land for farming or building. It has its own pub and small church, but has lost its only shop. There is little employment apart from the nurseries. It is a unique settlement with no clear focus, distinct from, yet part of Rudgwick, and close to its near neighbour Bucks Green.
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